IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC,) a Nevada limited liability company,)	Electronically Filed May 16 2017 09:02 a.m Elizabeth A. Brown
Appellant,)	Supreme Court No. Cherk of Supreme Court
vs.	
JAMES R. BLAHA, an individual; BANK OF)	
AMERICA, NA, a National Banking)	
Association, as successor by merger to BAC	
HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP;	
RECONTRUST COMPANY NA, a Texas	
corporation; EZ PROPERTIES, LLC, a Nevada)	
limited liability company; K&L BAXTER)	
FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a Nevada)	
limited partnership; FCH FUNDING, INC, an)	
unknown corporate entity,)	
Respondents.)	
)	

APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an Order dated October 5, 2016 granting Defendants, James Blaha and Noble Home Loans, Inc.'s, Motion for Summary Judgment and the remaining Defendants' Joinders thereto. ("Order Granting MSJ"). Appendix ("App"), 543). Notice of entry of the Order Granting MSJ was filed on October 5, 2016 (App 557). Plaintiff thereafter timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment; for Reconsideration; and for Clarification on October 11, 2016. Said Motion was denied by way of Order entered on or about November 28, 2016. (App 635). Notice of Entry of said Order was filed on December 1, 2016. (App 637). The Order Granting MSJ constituted a final judgment as to all parties below and was therefore appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1). Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on December 1, 2016 (App 642).

ROUTING STATEMENT

The instant matter should presumptively be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because this appeal raises as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the common law and statutory interpretation. NRAP 17(a)(13). Specifically, at issue is an important question of whether NRS 11.080 or NRS 107.080(5)-(6) sets forth the appropriate statute of limitations to be applied under the facts at hand. In addition, the matter raises a question of statewide public importance. NRAP 17(a)(14).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Can the purported foreclosure of an extinguished and therefore non-existent security interest effect a valid and effective change of title?
- 2. What, if any, statute of limitations governs an action to recover real property that was the subject of an unauthorized and void foreclosure sale based upon an extinguished deed of trust?
- 3. Whether the district court's application of NRS 107.080(5)-(6) and granting of summary judgment was erroneous as a matter of law.
- 4. Whether the district court's subsequent refusal to alter or amend, reconsider and/or clarify the Order to comport with the court's findings constituted an abuse of discretion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant action is primarily a quiet title action related to real property that was the subject of a HOA lien foreclosure sale pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

Plaintiff purchased the property at the HOA lien foreclosure sale and asserts that said sale served to extinguish any and all deeds of trust previously secured by the property. Notwithstanding the extinguishment of the deed of trust, the applicable Defendants thereafter caused a foreclosure sale based upon the deed of trust to take place, purportedly selling the property to a third party and divesting the Plaintiff of ownership of the property. Plaintiff contends that because the deed of trust was extinguished as a matter of law, the bank's foreclosure sale and all transfers of the property that occurred thereafter were unauthorized, void and ineffective. As a result, Plaintiff asserts that it remains the owner of the property free and clear of any interests of the Defendants.

Plaintiff filed its complaint on March 19, 2015, primarily seeking to recover title and possession of its property and to quiet title to the property solely in its name. On August 9, 2016, Defendants, James Blaha and Noble Home Loans, Inc., filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, asserting that Plaintiff's claims were barred by the then-existing 90-day statute of limitations of NRS 107.080(5)-(6). The remaining Defendants joined in said Motion. Plaintiff asserted the statute of

limitations to be inapplicable because the bank's foreclosure sale was void ab initio and therefore could not have effected any valid change of title as a matter of law. To the extent that any statute of limitations is applicable, the proper statute of limitations is that of NRS 11.080, which specifically provides a property owner with a period of 5 years from the time that it last held possession in which to recover real property. The instant action was filed within 5 years after the date of the purported foreclosure of the extinguished deed of trust which ostensibly divested the Plaintiff of title.

The Motion for Summary Judgment and Joinders were granted by the district court by way of Order dated November 28, 2016, with the district court finding that NRS 107.080(5)-(6) is applicable to this action; that the Plaintiff was required to bring suit within 90 days after the bank's foreclosure sale; and that the Plaintiff's claims are therefore time-barred. This is the Order from which Plaintiff appeals. In addition, Appellant appeals from a subsequent Order denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment; for Reconsideration; and for Clarification.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On or about June 8, 2004, a Declaration was recorded in the Official
 Records of the Clark County Recorder as instrument number

200406080002308, thereby creating Nevada Trails II Community
Association (*the "HOA"*) and perfecting a lien in favor of the HOA on all real property located within the common interest community it governed, including but not limited to that real property commonly known as 7639
Turquoise Stone Court, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113, Assessor Parcel No.
176-10-213-042 (*the "Property"*). App 004; Complaint, ¶11.

- 2. On or about March 23, 2006, Defendant, JOSE PEREZ, JR. ("Former Owner"), acquired title to and ownership of the Property. App 005; Complaint, ¶16.
- 3. Former Owner obtained one or more mortgages and/or lines of credit secured by the Property. App 005; Complaint, ¶18.
- 4. On or about March 28, 2007, Countrywide FSB recorded a deed of trust against the Property in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No. 200703280002128 ("First Deed of Trust"). App 005; Complaint, ¶19. See also App 098.
- 5. Upon information and belief, BAC Home Loans subsequently became the holder and/or owner of the First Deed of Trust through an assignment recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder on or about April 4, 2011 as Instrument No. 201104040003342. App 005; Complaint,

- ¶20. See also App 150.
- 6. By virtue of his ownership of the Property, Former Owner was a member of the HOA and accordingly was obligated to pay assessments pursuant to the terms of the CC&Rs. App 005; Complaint, ¶22.
- 7. At some point in time during his ownership of the Property, Former Owner failed to pay the assessments related to the Property to HOA. App 005; Complaint, ¶23.
- 8. As a result of the failure of Former Owner to pay the assessments, HOA recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien ("HOA Lien") with the Office of the Recorder of Clark County, Nevada. App 005; Complaint, ¶24. See also App 124.
- 9. Thereafter, HOA recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell with the Office of the Recorder of Clark County, Nevada. App 005; Complaint, ¶25. See also App 127.
- 10. Upon information and belief, the Notice of Default and Election to Sell was served upon the Former Owner, as well as all interested parties holding a security interest in the Property. App 005-006; Complaint, ¶26.
- 11. On or about November 16, 2010, BAC Home Loans, by and through MERS, contacted the HOA and/or its agent in response to the Notice of Default,

- thereby acknowledging actual receipt of the Notice of Default. App 131.
- 12. After the expiration of 90 days from the recording and mailing of the Notice of Default, HOA caused a Notice of Trustee's Sale to be recorded with the Office of the Recorder of Clark County, Nevada. App 006; Complaint, ¶27. See also App 142.
- 13. Upon information and belief, the Notice of Trustee's Sale was served upon the Former Owner, as well as all interested parties holding a security interest in the Property. App 006; Complaint, ¶28.
- 14. On or about April 12, 2011, HOA caused a foreclosure sale ("HOA Foreclosure Sale") to be conducted pursuant to the powers conferred by the Nevada Revised Statutes 116.3116, 116.31162, 116.31163 and 116.31164; the CC&Rs; the Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien; and the Notice of Default and Election to Sell. App 006; Complaint, ¶29.
- 15. Plaintiff, Las Vegas Development Group, LLC ("LVDG") purchased the Property by successfully bidding at the HOA Foreclosure Sale in accordance with N.R.S. 116.3116, et seq. App 006; Complaint, ¶30.
- 16. On or about April 13, 2011, a Trustee's Deed Upon Sale ("HOA Foreclosure Deed") was recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No. 201104130000979, vesting title to the

- Property in the Plaintiff. App 006; Complaint,¶31. See also App 145.
- 17. The HOA Foreclosure Sale complied with all requirements of law, including but not limited to, the recording and mailing of copies of the Notice of Delinquent Assessment and Notice of Default, and the recording, posting and publication of the Notice of Sale. App 006; Complaint, ¶32. See also App 145.
- 18. In the matter of *SFR Investments Pool I, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 130 Nev.

 _____, 334 P.3d 408, 2014 WL 4656471 (Adv. Op. No. 75, Sept. 18, 2014),
 this Court resolved a split that previously existed in the state and federal
 courts of the State of Nevada regarding the force, effect and interpretation
 of N.R.S. §116.3116, finding that the statute provides a homeowners
 association a true super-priority lien over real property that can and does
 extinguish a first deed of trust when non-judicially foreclosed. *Id.*
- 19. BAC Home Loan's security interest in the Property, if any, was extinguished by the foreclosure of the HOA Lien and the First Deed of Trust was rendered null, void and unenforceable. Complaint, ¶50.
- 20. On or about April 14, 2011, BANA and/or Recontrust caused a Notice of Default and Election to Sell to be recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No. 201104140003343. App 008;

- Complaint, ¶53. See also App 152.
- 21. On or about August 9, 2011, BANA and/or Recontrust caused a Notice of Trustee's Sale to be recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No. 201108090003456. App 008-009; Complaint, ¶54. See also App 159.
- 22. On or about August 29, 2011, Recontrust purported to conduct a foreclosure sale ("Bank Foreclosure Sale") based upon the First Deed of Trust. App 009; Complaint, ¶55.
- 23. EZ Properties purported to purchase the Property at the Bank Foreclosure Sale and on September 19, 2011, a Trustee's Deed Upon Sale Nevada to be recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No.201109190002647. App 009; Complaint, ¶56. See also App 162.
- 24. Upon information and belief, EZ Properties purchased the Property at the alleged September 19, 2011 Bank Foreclosure Sale with the aid of a mortgage from the Baxter Family Partnership. App 009; Complaint, ¶57.
- 25. On or about September 30, 2011, EZ Properties purported to transfer the Property to James R. Blaha by deed recorded in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument No. 201109300001615. App 009; Complaint, ¶59. See also App 168.

26. Upon information and belief, James R. Blaha purchased the Property from EZ Properties with the aid of a mortgage loan from FCH Funding n/k/a Noble Home Loans. App 009; Complaint, ¶60. See also App 173.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

- 1. On March 19, 2015, LVDG filed the complaint. App 001.
- 2. On August 9, 2016, Blaha and Noble Home Loans filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. App 073.
- 3. On August 16, 2016, EZ Properties and K&L Baxter filed their Joinder to the Motion for Summary Judgment. App 420.
- 4. On August 26, 2016, BANA filed its Joinder to the Motion for Summary Judgment. App 426.
- 5. On August 26, 2016, LVDG filed its Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. App 429.
- 6. On September 6, 2016, Blaha and Noble Home Loans filed their Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. App 464.
- 7. On September 13, 2016, the District Court heard oral argument related to the Motion for Summary Judgment. App 487.
- 8. On September 30, 2016, LVDG's counsel transmitted a letter to the district court regarding a dispute between the parties regarding the form of the

- order. App 592.
- 9. On October 5, 2016, the District Court entered the Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment in the form offered by Blaha and Noble. App 543.
- 10. On October 5, 2016, the Order Granting MSJ was filed. *Id*.
- 11. On October 5, 2016, Notice of Entry of the Order granting Motion to MSJ was filed. App 557.
- 12. On October 11, 2016, LVDG filed its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment; for Reconsideration; and for Clarification. App 574.
- 13. On October 31, 2016, BANA filed its Opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration. App 595.
- 14. On October 31, 2016, Blaha and Noble filed their Opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration. App 603.
- On November 1, 2016, Blaha and Noble filed their Joinder to BANA'sOpposition to the Motion for Reconsideration. App 614.
- 16. On November 1, 2016, EZ and K&L Baxter filed their Joinder to Blaha and Noble's Opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration. App 617.
- On November 2, 2016, EZ and K&L Baxter filed their Joinder to BANA'sOpposition to the Motion for Reconsideration. App 620.
- 18. On November 15, 2016, the District Court heard oral argument related to

- the Motion for Reconsideration. App 623.
- 19. On November 28, 2016, the District Court entered the Order DenyingMotion for Reconsideration. App 635.
- 20. On November 30, 2016, the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration was filed. *Id*.
- 21. On December 1, 2016, Notice of Entry of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration was filed. App 637.
- 22. On December 1, 2016, LVDG filed its Notice of Appeal. App 642.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The issue at hand is quite straightforward. Specifically, at issue is whether the purported foreclosure of a void, extinguished and invalid deed of trust can effect a valid change of title and therefore divest the rightful owner of the subject property of title. If so, further at issue is whether the property owner that was wrongfully foreclosed upon is required to bring suit to recover the property within the then-existing 90 day period of N.R.S. 107.080(5)(b) or whether he or she is entitled to the 5 year period that is expressly granted by N.R.S. 11.080.

What is not at issue herein is the validity of the HOA Foreclosure Sale at which the Plaintiff purchased the Property. For purposes of the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court was required to view the evidence in the light of most favorable to the non-moving party. *Lipps v. Southern Nevada Paving*, 116 Nev. 497, 498 (2000). Thus, the Court was required to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff. The Motion for Summary Judgment expressly did not argue any issue other than the statute of limitations. This required that the Court assume that the HOA Foreclosure Sale was properly conducted and that it thus extinguished the First Deed of Trust as a matter of law. Under such circumstances, no question existed regarding the fact that the First Deed of Trust was rendered null and void by the HOA Foreclosure Sale and that it

was therefore not a valid security interest at the time that the Bank Foreclosure Sale took place.

ARGUMENT

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the issue at hand is purely a question of law, such as in cases where statutory construction is at issue, review is *de novo*. *Boulder Oaks Cmty*. *Ass'n v*. *B & J Andrews Enters.*, *LLC*, 125 Nev. 397, 403, 215 P.3d 27, 31, 125 Nev. Adv. Rep. 33 (Nev. 2009). Because the Motion for Reconsideration was filed and decided prior to the notice of appeal, the court may consider arguments within the Motion for Reconsideration. *See, e.g.*, *Arnold v. Kip*, 123 Nev. 410, 417, 168 P.3d 1050, 1054, 2007 Nev. LEXIS 52, 12, 123 Nev. Adv. Rep. 41 (Nev. 2007) (Supreme Court considered arguments raised in a motion for reconsideration while deciding an appeal).

2. THE FORECLOSURE OF A VOID AND INVALID SECURITY INTEREST CANNOT EFFECT A VALID AND EFFECTIVE CHANGE OF TITLE

As discussed above, the Motion for Summary Judgment upon which the Order appealed from is founded was based upon a single issue – the timeliness of Plaintiff's Complaint. Although the Motion for Summary Judgment seemed to

sale, and although the Defendants recited certain factual allegations and attached certain exhibits that appear to be directed towards such arguments, they expressly stated that their Motion was limited to the issue of the purported untimeliness of the Plaintiff's Complaint. See App 076. Thus, no arguments nor rulings were made regarding the validity of the HOA Foreclosure Sale or any associated claims.

For purposes of the Motion for Summary Judgment, the district court was required to assume that the HOA Foreclosure Sale was properly conducted, valid and effective and that it thus extinguished the First Deed of Trust as a matter of law. As a result, the subsequent Bank Foreclosure Sale necessarily must be deemed to have been based upon a void, extinguished and non-existent security interest.

A void real estate transaction is one where the law deems that no transfer actually occurred. An example of this is a deed from a party who does not own the real property that is purported to be the subject of the deed. Such a transfer is ineffective for any and all purposes. This is exactly the situation at hand where BANA purports to have foreclosed upon and sold the Property based upon an invalid, extinguished deed of trust.

An absolute nullity such as a void deed will not constitute color of title, and

the Statute of Limitations will not run in favor of a person under it. *Nesbitt v. De Lamar's Nev. Gold Mining Co.*, 24 Nev. 273 (Nev. 1898)(Citations omitted).

Furthermore, a void deed will not connect a grantee with grantor's possession, nor will it constitute the basis of an action. *Id.* There can be no valid correction or confirmation of a void deed. 23 Am. Jur. 2d, Deeds, §287 (1965); 26 C.J.S., Deeds, §31 (1956). A void deed is invalid in law for any purpose whatsoever, such as a deed to effectuate a prohibited transaction" 23 Am. Jur.2d, Deeds, §137.

A void deed cannot be the foundation of a good title and a bona fide purchaser for value acquires no rights under it. *Marlenee v. Brown*, 21 Cal. 2d 668, 677 (Cal. 1943). A void deed cannot pass title even in favor of an innocent purchaser or a bona fide encumbrancer for value. *First Interstate Bank v. First Wyoming Bank*, 762 P.2d 379, 382 (Wyo. 1988). It is clearly well established law that a void deed grants no rights to the grantee. The deed to EZ Properties that resulted from the Bank Foreclosure Sale was exactly such a void deed.

The district court's Order Granting MSJ effectively finds that a party may fraudulently record an invalid security interest against another's real property and then proceed to foreclosure. If the property owner does not immediately complain of the invalid and fraudulent foreclosure, the district court has found that the foreclosure sale based upon the fraudulent security interest shall nevertheless be

valid and binding against this innocent party. This constitutes a clear error of law.

The Bank Foreclosure Sale based upon the extinguished First Deed of Trust could not effect any change of title. LVDG remained the owner of the Property after the Bank Foreclosure Sale and at all times since.

3. NRS 107.080(5)-(6) IS INAPPLICABLE WHERE BANA POSSESSED NO VALID SECURITY INTEREST UPON WHICH TO FORECLOSE AND THE BANK FORECLOSURE SALE WAS THUS VOID FROM THE OUTSET

Pursuant to the Order Granting MSJ, the district court held that Plaintiff's claims are barred by the then-existing 90-day time limitation of N.R.S. 107.080(5)(b). However, by way of its Complaint, the Plaintiff does not contest the manner in which the Bank Foreclosure Sale was carried out or the noticing of the Bank Foreclosure Sale, but rather the authority behind the Bank Foreclosure Sale. A wrongful foreclosure claim challenges the authority behind the foreclosure, not the foreclosure act itself. *McKnight Family, LLP v. Adept Mgmt. Servs.*, 310 P.3d 555, 559 (Nev. 2013)

It is clear that NRS 107.080(5) does not impact the Plaintiff's ability and right to attack the validity of the Bank Foreclosure Sale. In fact, NRS 107.080(5) does exactly the opposite. NRS 107.080(5) specifically provides that "[e]very

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