IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * *

LAS VEGAS DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

vs.

JAMES R. BLAHA, an individual; BANK OF AMERICA, NA, a National Banking Association, as successor by merger to BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP; RECONTRUST COMPANY NA, a Texas corporation; EZ PROPERTIES, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; K&L BAXTER FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a Nevada limited partnership; FCH FUNDING, INC., an unknown corporate entity; DOE individuals I through XX; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through XX, Electronically Filed Jun 15 2017 08:38 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT NO. 71875

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. LVDG's claims are barred by the statute of limitations imposed by NRS 107.080(6).

The facts in this case are undisputed. LVDG waited 1,298 days to bring an action to set aside an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale. NRS 107.080(5)-(6), however, imposes either a 90 or 120 day statute of limitations for challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale, depending on when the challenging party received notice. This Court has expressly held that the limitation periods in NRS

107.080(5)-(6) apply to <u>all</u> claims challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale. <u>See Bldg. Energetix Corp. v. EHE, LP</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, 294 P.3d 1228, 1234 (2013) ("<u>NRS 107.080(5)(a)-(c) and NRS 107.080(6) enumerate the</u> <u>limited instances in which a nonjudicial foreclosure sale may be made void</u>") (emphasis added). Thus, because LVDG failed to file its action within 120 days of receiving actual notice of the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale, its claims are barred by NRS 107.080(6).

LVDG makes several arguments as to why the limitations period in NRS 107.080(6) does not apply in this case, all of which lack merit. First, LVDG argues that NRS 107.080(6) only applies to procedural claims challenging how the sale was <u>conducted</u>, not substantive claims challenging the validity of the sale itself. AOB 15. This argument, however, has already been expressly rejected by this Court. <u>See Michniak</u>, 2012 WL 6588912 (Nev. Dec. 14, 2012) (unpublished) (holding that the limitation periods in NRS 107.080(5)-(6) are not limited to actions challenging "minor errors of form or execution [of a foreclosure sale]"). Instead, NRS 107.080(5)-(6) applies to <u>all</u> claims challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale. <u>Id.; see also Bldg. Energetix</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, 294 P.3d at 1234.

Next, LVDG argues that NRS 107.080(6) does not apply because the Bank Foreclosure Sale was "void" due to the previous HOA Foreclosure Sale. AOB 12-

18. This argument is misplaced, however, because it goes to the <u>merits</u> of LVDG's underlying claims – not the timeliness of LVDG's assertion of those claims. Again, this Court has expressly held that <u>all</u> claims challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale as "void" must be brought within the limitation periods imposed by NRS 107.080(5)-(6). <u>See Bldg. Energetix Corp.</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, 294 P.3d at 1234 ("NRS 107.080(5)(a)-(c) and NRS 107.080(6) enumerate the limited instances in which a nonjudicial foreclosure sale may be made void."). While LVDG had the right to challenge the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale as "void" as a result of the previous HOA Foreclosure Sale, LVDG was required by NRS 107.080(6) to bring that challenge within 120 days of receiving actual notice of the Bank Foreclosure Sale. It is undisputed that LVDG failed to do so (missing the deadline by no less than 1,178 days).

Finally, LVDG argues that this Court should apply the more general fiveyear statute of limitations provided in NRS 11.080, rather than the more specific statute of limitations imposed by NRS 107.080(6). AOB 20-21. This argument ignores basic rules of statutory construction which hold that specific statutes take precedence over statutes that apply only generally. <u>See Nevada Power Co. v.</u> <u>Haggerty</u>, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (Nev. 1999). Moreover, this Court has already expressly rejected the application of the limitation periods in NRS Chapter 11 in the context of an action seeking to set aside an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale. <u>See Michniak</u>, 2012 WL 6588912 (Nev. Dec. 14, 2012) (unpublished) (holding that the limitation periods imposed by NRS 107.080(5)-(6) – not the limitation periods in NRS Chapter 11 – apply to actions challenging nonjudicial foreclosure sales.). Because LVDG failed to bring its claims within 120 days of receiving actual notice of the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale, the district court properly concluded that LVDG's claims are barred by NRS 107.080(6).

II. The district court did not err by issuing detailed factual findings in support of its order granting the Blaha Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

LVDG argues that the district court committed legal error by including factual findings in its written order granting the Blaha Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment that were not discussed during the hearing on the Motion. Even if true, however, this allegation is irrelevant because only the district court's final written order is of any legal consequence. See Rust v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 103 Nev. 686, 689, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (Nev. 1987) ("The district court's oral pronouncement from the bench, the clerk's minute order, and even an unfiled written order are ineffective for any purpose...."). As such, the district court was free to modify its factual findings following the hearing on the Blaha Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Moreover, LVDG fails to cite any legal authority in support of its contention

that it was legal error for the district court to include detailed factual findings in support of its order granting the Blaha Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. This lack of legal authority, standing alone, is fatal to LVDG's argument. <u>See Kroll v. Incline Vill. Gen. Improvement Dist.</u>, 2014 WL 5840049, at *2 (Nev. Nov. 10, 2014) (unpublished) ("If an appellant fails to provide this court with sufficient citations to authority to support its contentions, that argument cannot prevail").

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de novo. <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). NRCP 56(c) provides that summary judgment shall be granted when, after a review of the record viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, there are no remaining genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. <u>Id.</u> at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031.

The material facts in this case are undisputed. This appeal turns on a question of statutory interpretation, which "presents a question of law and is subject to de novo review." <u>Mendoza-Lobos v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 634, 642, 218 P.3d 501, 506 (Nev. 2009).

///

///

ARGUMENT

I. LVDG's claims are barred by the statute of limitations imposed by NRS 107.080(6).

A foreclosure sale terminates all other legal and equitable interests in the land. <u>Charmicor, Inc. v. Bradshaw Fin. Co.</u>, 92 Nev. 310, 313, 550 P.2d 413 (Nev. 1976) (legal interest); <u>McCall v. Carlson</u>, 63 Nev. 390, 406–07, 172 P.2d 171 (Nev. 1946) (equitable interest). As such, once the sale is completed, title vests in the purchaser without equity or right of redemption. <u>See</u> 107.080(5); <u>see also</u> <u>Michniak v. Argent Mortg. Co., LLC</u>, 2012 WL 6588912 (Nev. Dec. 14, 2012) (unpublished).

NRS 107.080(5)-(6) sets forth the limitation periods for challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale. NRS 107.080(5)-(6) has been amended several times in recent years. At the time of the NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale at issue in this case, NRS 107.080(5) stated in relevant part:

> Every sale made under the provisions of this section and other sections of this chapter vests in the purchaser the title of the grantor and any successors in interest without equity or right of redemption. A sale made pursuant to this section may^4 be declared void by any court of

⁴ NRS 107.080(5) was amended to change "may" to "must," effective October 1, 2011. 2011 Nev. Stat., ch. 81, A.B. 284, § 5 at 334. The October 1, 2011 amendment only applies "to a notice of default and election to sell which is recorded on or after July 1, 2011." A.B. 284. Here, the version of NRS 107.080(5) using the word "may" applies because the Notice of Default and Election to Sell Pursuant to the Deed of Trust was recorded on April 14, 2011. 2

competent jurisdiction in the county where the sale took place if:

- (a) The trustee or other person authorized to make the sale does not substantially comply with the provisions of this section or any applicable provision of NRS 107.086 and 107.087;
- (b)Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6, an action is commenced in the county where the sale took place within **90 days**⁵ after the date of the sale; and
- (c) A notice of lis pendens providing notice of the pendency of the action is recorded in the office of the county recorder of the county where the sale took place within **30 days**⁶ after commencement of the action.

(Emphasis added to highlight statutory changes). Similarly, at the time of the NRS

Chapter 107 foreclosure sale at issue in this case, NRS 107.080(6) stated:

If proper notice is not provided pursuant to subsection 3 or paragraph (a) of subsection 4 to the grantor, to the person who holds the title of record on the date the notice of default and election to sell is recorded, to each trustor or to any other person entitled to such notice, the person who did not receive such proper notice may commence

JA 152-53.

⁵ NRS 107.080(5)(b) was amended to change the 90 days to 45 days, effective October 1, 2013. 2013 Nev. Stat., ch. 403, SB 321, § 5 at 2197.

⁶ NRS 107.080(5)(c) was amended to change the 30 days to 15 days, effective October 1, 2013. 2013 Nev. Stat., ch. 403, SB 321, § 5 at 2197.

an action pursuant to subsection 5 within 120 days^7 after the date on which the person received actual notice of the sale.

Thus, pursuant to NRS 107.080(6), if the challenging party did not have notice prior to the NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale, that party must challenge the NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale "within 120 days after the date on which the person received actual notice of the sale."⁸

This Court has repeatedly acknowledged the public policy considerations that form the basis for any statute of limitations, including those found in NRS 107.080(5)-(6). <u>See Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Medical Center</u>, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 23, __, 277 P.3d 458, 465 (Nev. 2012). Specifically, this Court has recognized that limitation periods imposed by the Legislature are meant to "provide a concrete time frame within which a plaintiff must file a lawsuit and after which a defendant is afforded a level of security." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Peterson v. Bruen</u>, 106 Nev. 271, 274, 792 P.2d 18, 19 (Nev. 1990)). In this regard, statutes of limitation "stimulate activity, punish negligence and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs." <u>Id.</u>

 $^{^7}$ NRS 107.080(6) was amended to change the 120 days to 60 days, effective October 1, 2013. 2013 Nev. Stat., ch. 403, SB 321, § 6 at 2197.

⁸ It is unclear from the record whether LVDG was provided with notice <u>before</u> the Bank Foreclosure Sale. As such, it is assumed that NRS 107.080(6) applies in this case. Accordingly, LVDG was required to challenge the Bank Foreclosure Sale

LVDG does not dispute that it failed to commence its action within 120 days of receiving actual notice of the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale. <u>See</u> AOB 2-8. Instead, LVDG argues that NRS 107.080(6) does not apply in this case because the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale was "void." AOB 12-17. LVDG further argues that because the NRS Chapter 107 Bank Foreclosure Sale was "void," the general 5-year statute of limitations in NRS 11.080 should apply to LVDG's claims. AOB 20-21. LVDG's arguments fail because: (1) this Court has expressly held that the limitation periods in NRS 107.080(5)-(6) apply to <u>all</u> claims challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale; and (2) this Court has expressly rejected the application of the general statutes of limitation in NRS Chapter 11 to claims challenging NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sales.

a) This Court has expressly held that the limitation periods in NRS 107.080(5)-(6) apply to <u>all</u> claims challenging NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sales.

This Court has held that the limitation periods imposed by NRS 107.080(5)-(6) are not limited to actions challenging "minor errors of form or execution [of a non-judicial foreclosure sale]." <u>Michniak v. Argent Mortg. Co., LLC</u>, 2012 WL 6588912 (Nev. December 14, 2012) (unpublished). Instead, the limitation periods in NRS 107.080(5)-(6) apply to <u>all</u> actions challenging NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sales. <u>See Bldg. Energetix Corp. v. EHE, LP</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 6,

within 120 days of receiving actual notice of the sale.

294 P.3d 1228, 1234 (Nev. 2013) ("NRS 107.080(5)(a)-(c) and NRS 107.080(6) enumerate the limited instances in which a nonjudicial foreclosure sale may be made void") (emphasis added); Michniak, 2012 WL 6588912 ("The title set forth in the trustee's deed upon sale was conclusive and beyond challenge once the time period set forth in NRS 107.080 had lapsed"). This Court's rule - that the limitation periods in NRS 107.080(5)-(6) apply to <u>all</u> claims challenging NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sales – has also been adopted by the federal district courts in Nevada and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. See Kim v. Kearney, 838 F. Supp. 2d 1077 (D. Nev. 2012) (dismissing plaintiff's quiet title complaint because plaintiff failed to file an action to set aside the sale within ninety days of the date of sale), aff'd, ____ Fed. Appx. ____, 2013 WL 6172290 (9th Cir. Nov. 26, 2013); Chattern v. BAC Home Loan Servicing LP, 2012 WL 4795663 (D. Nev. Oct. 9, 2012) (dismissing an action to set aside a foreclosure sale where the action was commenced 109 days after the foreclosure sale in violation of NRS 107.080(5)); Guertin v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 2012 WL 3133736 (D. Nev. July 31, 2012) (dismissing claims for statutorily defective foreclosure and quiet title where the action was not brought within ninety days of sale); Willis v. Federal Nat. Mortg. Ass'n, 512 Fed. Appx. 723, 2013 WL 1150755 (9th Cir. 2013) (holding that, to the extent the plaintiffs sought to assert a claim for wrongful foreclosure, the district court properly determined that the claim would have been time-barred by the

ninety-day statute of limitation imposed by NRS 107.080(5)(b)); <u>Haischer v.</u> <u>Mortgage Elec. Registration Sys., Inc.</u>, 2012 WL 4194076, at *4 (D. Nev. Sept. 17, 2012) (dismissing plaintiff's wrongful foreclosure claim because the plaintiff failed to file an action to set aside the sale within the time constraints imposed by NRS 107.080(5)-(6)).

This Court's broad application of NRS 107.080(5)-(6) to <u>all</u> claims challenging an NRS Chapter 107 foreclosure sale is consistent with the legislative intent behind the statute. When NRS 107.080 was originally passed, it did not include a limitations period for challenging a foreclosure sale. Participants in the Nevada real estate market quickly discovered that this omission seriously undermined the transferability of homes acquired through non-judicial foreclosure sales because an action could be brought at any time – even years later – to challenge the validity of the foreclosure sale. David Evans of the Nevada Land Title Association described the issue as follows when addressing the Nevada Senate Committee on Judiciary:

Two years ago the law was changed and allowed the trustee and any other person who was conducting a foreclosure sale to declare the sale void, at no force or effect, for an indefinite period of time. That made it very difficult for the title insurance industry to insure those foreclosed properties. If the sale is hindered because the person bidding cannot get the property insured to either refinance or sell it – because the trustee or other person can turn the sale around indefinitely – it damages the purchaser and the lender. Moreover, the person losing

their property may not get fair market value due to purchaser's inability to negotiate the property and could be sued for deficiency judgment.

See Nevada Senate Committee on Judiciary Minutes, 74th Sess., S.B. 217, May 2, 2007, p.24 (statement of David Evans).

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